1940

# Robert B. Swaner v. Union Mortgage Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

Follow this and additional works at: [https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu\\_sc1](https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu_sc1)



Part of the [Law Commons](#)

Original Brief submitted to the Utah Supreme Court; funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services through the Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library, and sponsored by the S.J. Quinne

---

## Recommended Citation

Brief of Appellant, *Swaner v. Union Mortgage Co*, No. 6234 (Utah Supreme Court, 1940).  
[https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu\\_sc1/639](https://digitalcommons.law.byu.edu/uofu_sc1/639)

This Brief of Appellant is brought to you for free and open access by BYU Law Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965) by an authorized administrator of BYU Law Digital Commons. For more information, please contact [hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu](mailto:hunterlawlibrary@byu.edu).

# In the Supreme Court Of the State of Utah

---

ROBERT B. SWANER, Plaintiff and Respondent, vs. UNION MORTGAGE COMPANY, a corporation, Defendant and Appellant.	}	No. 6234
--	---	----------

---

## APPELLANT'S BRIEF

This is an appeal from a judgment rendered against appellant and in favor of plaintiff, and the facts over which the litigation resulting in such appeal arose are contained in the following:

## STATEMENT

The plaintiff and respondent, Robert B. Swaner, is a young man 22 years of age venturing into the contracting and building field. His experience consists of remodeling and building some eight or nine houses, and the defendant and appellant is a corporation engaged, among other things, in financing building loans and securing Federal Housing Administration insurance on such loans.

In the month of July, 1938 Swaner applied to defendant for Federal Housing Administration insurance

commitments upon a loan for \$4,000.00, hereinafter referred to as the 10th Avenue property, and asked the defendant to provide for appraisals, credit reports, initial service charges, recording fees, abstracting and fire insurance, in order that such application would in all respects meet the terms and conditions and comply with the rules and regulations of said Federal Housing Administration. Thereafter, on or about the 20th of July, 1938 the Federal Housing Administration approved such loan, subject to the qualification that George B. Swaner, father of the plaintiff, should be a co-signer on the note and mortgage evidencing and insuring the payment of such loan, and the note and mortgage duly secured as requested were executed and delivered on the 22nd day of July, 1938.

Thereafter, Swaner began work on the property described in such mortgage and the defendant, in compliance with the terms and conditions of its contract, advanced money upon the order of the plaintiff to material men and laborers as such improvements proceeded, which were approved by the Federal Housing Administration, until the advancements had approximated \$2,800.00.

On or about September 15, 1938 Swaner made application to the defendant to obtain three additional Federal Housing Administration loans for \$3,000.00 each. Each loan was to be evidenced by the note of the plaintiff and be secured by a mortgage on the property described by plaintiff in his application. Immediately defendant and appellant presented such applications to the F. H. A. people and, at plaintiff's request, made advancements and expenditures in his behalf. On November 6, 1938, as the

result of its efforts in such behalf, the Federal Housing Administration approved one loan upon the property described in plaintiff's complaint (see abstract, page 2) and hereinafter referred to as the 16th East property, conditioned that George B. Swaner and Charlotte L. Swaner, father and mother of the plaintiff, should become co-signers thereon; and on the 11th day of November, 1938 the note and mortgage so required were made and executed under the terms and conditions required by the Federal Housing Administration, among which were that the construction should be according to F. H. A. requirements and should pass inspection by the Federal Housing Administration. In addition, at the time said application was made, the defendant was required to and did make certain expenditures in behalf of plaintiff and was required to and did carry insurance upon the improvements upon the property.

Shortly after the note and mortgage last above described were made and executed and before any work or improvements were made upon such 16th East property by plaintiff, defendant was advised that plaintiff was failing to comply with the terms and conditions of the Federal Housing Administration rules and regulations in that he was not keeping the property referred to in the note and mortgage of July 22, 1938 the 10th avenue property free from debt, except for the mortgage above referred to, and that he was failing to keep the property free from claims and that he hadn't paid accruing bills thereon, and that several material men and mechanics had already filed liens against such property; that he was failing to pay his wages and that complaint had

been made to the Industrial Commission of Utah by laborers who had not been paid. That thereupon defendant advised plaintiff of the circumstances and plaintiff immediately informed defendant that he would at once put the first above described loan back into condition so that it might be finally approved by the Federal Housing Administration. As the result of such representation, this defendant made additional advances on the construction of the 10th Avenue property, the last advancement of which occurred on the 23rd of December, 1938. Plaintiff, however, failed to keep his agreement, and there was much difficulty encountered with respect to the first loan and this defendant found that plaintiff was a bad credit risk, and it became desirable to discontinue the relationship.

Sometime prior to December, 1938 plaintiff began construction under the mortgage dated November 14, 1938. In the meantime, at the request of plaintiff, defendant had expended in behalf of plaintiff on such mortgage and Federal Housing Administration commitment 16th East property the appraisal fee of \$10.00, the credit report of \$6.00, a recording fee of \$7.10, an abstract fee of \$5.00, and had placed fire insurance on the property under the terms of the Federal Housing Administration commitment, with the loss payable to defendant and its assigns as its interest appeared, and had paid therefor the sum of \$21.00.

When defendant found that plaintiff was not complying with his agreement on the transaction designated as the 10th Avenue property, it indicated to the plaintiff that it was no longer interested in doing business with the

plaintiff. The plaintiff made demands upon defendant and appellant for advancements for expenditures incurred by him with respect to the property described as the 16th East property.

That on or about the time the mortgage of November 14, 1938, the 16th East property, was signed and executed, defendant agreed with plaintiff that advancement would be made approved Federal Housing Administration inspection, as follows: 10% when the first floor joists were on, 15% when the roof was done, \$20.00 when the house was ready for plastering, 25% when it was ready for decoration, and the balance when it had passed the final F. H. A. inspection.

During the period between the time when defendant had called plaintiff's attention to the fact that he was not complying with the terms of the F. H. A. on the 10th Avenue property and the 21st of December, 1938, plaintiff made demand upon defendant for advancements on both properties. With respect to the 16th East property, over which the present litigation arises, the defendant and appellant answered that there had been no F. H. A. approval sufficient to justify making such advancements. Plaintiff persisted and finally an evidence of inspection by the F. H. A., Exhibit No. "1," was received by defendant and a copy of Exhibit "3" was placed upon the property and another sent to this defendant. Appellant refused to make advancements further, and thereupon the plaintiff Swaner demanded that the mortgages on the 16th East property be released, and to this demand defendant and appellant consented and agreed, insisting, however, that it should be re-imbursed for the

expenditures it had made for recording, inspection, service and insurance. Plaintiff refused to make these payments or any part thereof and brought this action for cancellation of the mortgages and for certain damages, including \$2,000.00 for personal humiliation, embarrassment and mental distress, \$10.00 for demurrage charges, \$40.00 for discounts unrealized, \$250.00 for damage to the building from the elements, and \$200.00 attorney's fees. The case was heard by a jury which, acting in an advisory capacity, answered ten interrogatories propounded by the trial judge and rendered an advisory verdict granting cancellation of the mortgage and certain damages, amounting to \$25.00 for loss of value due to the elements, \$40.00 for unrealized discounts, \$10.00 for demurrage charges and \$200.00 attorney's fees.

### ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

Supplemental assignments of error have been filed and served as follows:

12. The Court committed error prejudicial to appellant when he sustained plaintiff's objection to the following question: "You didn't pay those expenses?" (Tr. 100.)

13. The Court committed error prejudicial to the defendant and appellant when it found, as it did, in paragraph 6 of its findings of fact, that plaintiff thereafter demanded of the defendant that it release the said mortgages of record and surrender to the plaintiff the said promissory note "which the defendant likewise refused to do" for the reason that there is no evidence in the record to justify such finding. (Tr. 56.)



## ARGUMENT

Heretofore appellant has assigned errors committed by the Court during the trial of these proceedings, and for the convenience of the Court this argument will be divided first into a discussion of the facts, and second, a discussion of the law, and thus all of its assignments of error will be considered.

The Court has found that the defendant below, appellant here, had refused to release the mortgage on the property referred to as the 16th East property, which are the only mortgages with which we are concerned directly in this action. (See abstract, page 20, particularly findings six and ten.) It is the contention of the appellant that no such testimony will be found in the record. The amended answer of appellant (abstract page 11) contains a paragraph numbered 7 which reads as follows:

“Upon receipt of such notification by defendant, plaintiff demanded the release of the mortgage described in plaintiff’s complaint. Upon such demand being made upon it, this defendant consented that such release of mortgage be made, and informed the plaintiff that upon payment by him to it of the expenses and outlay made by it on his behalf, in connection with such loan, that said loan would be immediately released.”

Reference to plaintiff’s answer to defendant’s counterclaim shows that in making such answer the plaintiff set forth the following: (Abstract page 15.)

“Answering paragraph 7 plaintiff admits that he demanded the release of the mortgage described in plaintiff’s complaint and that the defendant refused to release said mortgage, except



upon condition that the plaintiff pay to the defendant certain alleged costs and expenses claimed by the defendant to have been incurred by it in connection with said loan, and in this connection plaintiff denies that the defendant was entitled to any such payment of costs and expenses, as a condition for the release of said mortgage.”

The testimony of the plaintiff at page 30 of the abstract shows the following upon cross examination of the plaintiff:

Question: Now at the time you made demand for the release of this mortgage, the defendant told you that it would release immediately if you would pay certain expenses it had incurred, didn't it?

Answer: Yes.

It is true that there are certain conclusions of this witness at various places in the record, but at no place is there a denial of the fact that the defendant at all times stood ready to release such mortgages upon payment by the plaintiff to the defendant of the costs and expenses which it had incurred in his behalf, and it is undisputed in the record that the defendant was perfectly willing to release the plaintiff from the contract entered into on November 14, 1938, and that it would discharge the mortgages upon being made whole on its expenditures in his behalf. Upon this question, it would seem that a lengthy discussion would not be needed because the record bears out the contention of the defendant and appellant without dispute, and the good faith of the appellant is evidenced in its willingness expressed by it to release upon getting back its actual outlay. And what were the expenses which had been incurred by it in behalf of the plaintiff:

Recording, abstract fees, Federal Housing Administration fees and fire insurance. It is true that the Court struck out of appellant's pleading the items above referred to and would allow no proof on the subject, but this has been assigned as error. Appellant feels that the Court was in error in striking this portion of its pleading for the reason that these expenditures were made by defendant at the request of plaintiff and for plaintiff's benefit in conformity with the rules and regulations of the Federal Housing Administration, and no commitment could be secured from said administration without these expenditures or agreement to make them when called upon. The mortgage had to be recorded, the abstract of title had to be prepared, and the Federal Housing Administration appraisal fees had to be paid; and certainly, after the improvements were made upon the property, insurance had to be carried thereon.

Some question was raised that no tender of the insurance policy had been made to plaintiff and hence no liability. Of course this must immediately appear to be without foundation, because the policy was issued and plaintiff knew it. The policy was made to the mortgagor for the benefit of the mortgagee as its interest appeared, and it must be manifest that when the mortgagee had furnished no money upon the mortgage its interest would be nothing, and if a fire had occurred the mortgagor would have been the sole beneficiary. Why, then, should not the mortgagor pay for the insurance policy which was made entirely for his benefit and which would protect him at all times from its issue and even during the trial of this cause? The mortgagee was in absolute

good faith in asking for the return of the money expended by it for the benefit of the plaintiff, and the Court's refusal to allow proof of such obligation and his action in striking that portion of the defendant's answer and counterclaim was prejudicial in the extreme to defendant.

Appellant feels that at no time during its relations with the plaintiff in connection with the 16th East mortgage was there ever a compliance by the plaintiff with the rules and regulations of the Federal Housing Administration and with the agreement entered into by the plaintiff and defendant which would entitle the plaintiff to any advancements whatever. It is alleged by appellant and testified to again and again by the plaintiff that his loan and any advancements were to be subject to the rules and regulations of the Federal Housing Administration and subject to inspections made by that institution. The record shows (see plaintiff's complaint, abstract page 2 and his testimony, abstract page 27) that the plaintiff was to receive money, "10% when the first floor joists were on, 15% when the roof was completed \* \* \* ."

An inspection was made by the Federal Housing Administration on or about the 21st of December, 1938 and a record of such inspection was made and sent to appellant (see Exhibit "1") and a photostatic copy of such exhibit is made a part of this brief. A careful examination of the exhibit will show that there was an objection to the concrete which never yet has been approved, at least no evidence indicates such approval, that certain portions of the construction were approved but it will

be noted that the floor and other construction above the foundation is specifically marked as unacceptable, though indicated as partially complete or in progress.

At the same time that this inspection was made, there appears to have been a piece of paper left at the building which is marked Exhibit "3". A photostatic cut of that document is also a part of this brief, and an examination of the document will show that that refers to exhibit 1 which sets the defects and indicates just what is required and expressly shows that approval is subject to the correction of the defective work, and there is absolutely no other testimony in the record which shows that then or at any time since has the F. H. A. ever approved that defective work. It is true that plaintiff says the floor was completed, but it is submitted that such statement is a self-serving declaration and can mean nothing when a strict compliance on his part would be required to entitle him to any advancement under the contract between himself and appellant.

Edward O. Anderson, a witness on behalf of the defendant, was called and qualified himself as Chief Architectural Supervisor in charge of the documents, records and files of the F. H. A. corporation, and he recognized the two exhibits herein referred to. Exhibit "1" is dated the same day that Exhibit "3" is dated, and it is clear that Exhibit "3" is but a documentary evidence that on that day a certain inspection was made which is clearly evidenced by Exhibit "1," and it is inconceivable that Exhibit "3" would have the effect of more widely approving the work done on the property than Exhibit "1" which carries the demand for the correction of de-

fective work, and on which the F. H. A. would hold appellant on its obligation to provide properly constructed security.

It is submitted that with the inspection evidenced by Exhibits "1" and "3," no such compliance with the requirements of the contract between plaintiff and appellant had been had as would entitle plaintiff to an advancement of money thereunder.

The question of the \$25.00 general damages which was allowed to stand by the Court, after motion for new trial had been made and presented, is in appellant's opinion entirely without foundation or justification. The only evidence supporting it in any sense is the testimony of the plaintiff himself, and the wild judgments of the witness A. J. Dean, who by his own testimony is a cement man and is certainly not qualified to make judgments of the type he was called upon to testify to. Witness his testimony about the rusty nails (abstract page 36) and compare that testimony with the facts presented in the testimony of O. C. Nielson (abstract page 45) and see Exhibit "5," and then determine what reliance could be put on even a guess by such witness. It is submitted that no proof of any type worthy of the name was submitted to substantiate the \$25.00 damage, and the judgment of the experts long in the building business, Buehner and Nielson, clearly demonstrates that the building had not suffered at all. In fact, careful reading of their testimony will indicate that the drying out process that the building was subjected to was really an advantage rather than a detriment. There is no evidence upon which findings 6, 7 and 10 can be justified.

One of the novel features presented in this case was the allowance by the Court of \$200.00 attorney's fees for the bringing of this action. The general rule is that no recovery can be had as damages for costs and expenses of litigation or expenditure of counsel fees, unless special provision is made for such allowance (a) by statute, (b) by contract, or (c) as exemplary damages growing out of wrongful and malicious acts and in some cases out of wanton or malicious injury or gross negligence or fraud. It is the belief of the appellant that none of these prerequisites are to be found in the case at bar.

In 29 Fed. 2nd 78, the Court says:

“No right of action for damages exists at common law for failure to satisfy mortgage or to release or discharge a lien or other claim against property.”

The State of Utah has not been called upon to pass on this question directly, but it does have a statute, Section 78-3-8, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, with reference to the release of mortgages, which reads as follows:

“If the mortgagee fails to discharge or release any mortgage after the same has been fully satisfied, he shall be liable to the mortgagor for double the damages resulting from such failure. Or the mortgagor may bring an action against the mortgagee to compel the discharge or release of the mortgage after the same has been satisfied; and the judgment of the Court must be that the mortgagee discharge or release the mortgage and pay the mortgagor the costs of suit, and all damages resulting from such failure.”

The above quotation is the only expression in the Utah Statutes with respect to attorney's fees in connection with mortgages.

An early Utah decision held such a penalty statute unconstitutional.

Openshaw vs. Haflin, 68 Pac. 138, 24 Utah 426.

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