1940

# Robert B. Swaner v. Union Mortgage Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

It manifestly appears from the evidence that appellant violated its agreement to advance the money it agreed to loan respondent.

On this appeal the technical defense is raised that there was no F.H.A. approval of the work so as to entitle respondent to the 10% payment which became due when the foundation was completed and the floor joists set. There is no merit to this contention, for the evidence is clearly to the contrary.

Swaner testified on direct examination:

“Q. Now you testified, Mr. Swaner, when the floor of this building was constructed and the joists were constructed, I think they are, they were to have an F.H.A. inspection?

A. Yes.

Q. Did it have an F.H.A. inspection?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that inspection approved by F.H.A.?

A. Yes, it was passed by F.H.A. at that time.”

(Ab. 28, Tr. 91-92.)



On re-direct examination he testified:

“Q. Mr. Swaner, I think you testified on cross-examination that the house had received its first F.H.A. inspection?

A. That is right.

Q. Now, after that time, and that was after the floor had been completed and joists set—

A. Yes.

Q. Now, after that time, did you at any time subsequent to that, have a conversation with defendant mortgage company, or its officers, with respect to the advancement of the ten per cent of the original loan?

A. Yes.

Q. With whom did you have that conversation?

A. Mr. Frank Conners.

Q. And about when did you have it—that is, approximately, to the best of your recollection?

A. Well, approximately the first of December.

Q. About how long after the F.H.A. inspection had been made?

A. Immediately after the F.H.A. inspection, the day after or so, I started to ask for the ten per cent.

Q. What was the conversation?

A. I told them that it had passed the F.H.A. inspection and I wanted my ten per cent. They said to begin with that there was something wrong with the cement in the foundation, and after that they said they had received no notice from F.H.A.

Q. What was done with reference to the cement after you had had this conversation?

A. I called up my cement contractor and told him that.

Q. State what was done?

A. It was taken care of.

Q. What do you mean taken care of?

A. As I remember they were afraid the cement was freezing and they wanted to wait and see.

MR. SHIELDS: Now if the court please—

A. They—meaning F.H.A.

Q. Did the F.H.A. afterwards inspect the cement?

A. Yes.

. . .

Q. Now Mr. Swaner, what did the F.H.A. finally do with reference to the cement and flooring?

A. The cement and floors?

Q. Joists, or whatever it was?

A. Why, they were passed.” (Tr. 113-116.)

A. J. Dean, a witness for plaintiff, testified:

“Q. Do you know whether or not this structure was inspected by the F.H.A.?

A. I know that it was.

Q. How do you know that?

A. Because when I came there on the job there was a ticket fastened to one of the wires on the forms, which it said on it—Well, it was an F.H.A. approval slip of the forms there.” (Tr. 143, Ab. 36.)

Mr. Anderson, Chief Architect for F.H.A., testified that Exhibit 3 is a copy of the document found in his file, which in the course of business of F.H.A. inspection is left upon the structure, and that at the date the slip bears an inspection was made, and that Exhibit 3 is the only slip or document which is delivered to the property owner

or left on the place, and that said exhibit is a copy of the inspection slip left on the respondent's premises. (Ab. 42, Tr. 172-173.)

We respectfully submit that there is no conflict in the evidence that there was an approval by F.H.A. Exhibit 1, which was the "Compliance Inspection Report," mailed to appellant, shows nothing to the contrary. It contains nothing by way of exception to the unconditional approval shown by Exhibit 3. The statement: "Concrete to be checked for freezing after it has had more time to set up," appearing on Exhibit 1, is not an objection to the concrete work, and there is not a scintilla of evidence in the record that the concrete work was defective in any way, and as appears from the testimony of Mr. Swaner, after some fear was expressed that the cement might freeze, it was afterwards passed. (Tr. 113-116.)

As a matter of fact appellant raised the question of the sufficiency or validity of the inspection and approval at the trial purely as an afterthought. That never was really the ground upon which it refused to advance the 10%. The real reason is set forth in paragraphs 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of defendant's answer and counter-claim to plaintiff's amended complaint (Tr. 30-33), which defense was stricken as irrelevant and redundant upon motion of the plaintiff. (Tr. 47.) The allegations in these paragraphs are to the effect that appellant had contracted with respondent for a similar loan covering property on Tenth Avenue, and that respondent had been delinquent in carrying out the terms of the contract with reference to that property, and that therefore appellant "had notified

plaintiff that it would not further advance on the first loan *and that it was no longer interested in continuing the second loan above described.*”

Counsel’s failure to discuss in his brief the ruling of the court in striking this defense indicates that he has no confidence in its validity. He does cover the matter by his Assignment of Error No. 10, but he has evidently concluded that the assignment is without merit.

Of course, the failure of respondent (if he did fail) to comply with the contract with reference to the 10th Avenue property, could furnish no excuse for appellant’s breach of the contract to advance money on the 16th East property.

As stated in 13 Corpus Juris 613:

“One contract cannot be rescinded for breach of another and independent contract.”

In *Rock vs. Gaede* (Kan.), 207 Pac. 323, it is said:

“The buyer has no right to rescind or refuse to perform a contract for the purchase of a quantity of flour upon the ground that a shipment of the same brand, made under a separate contract between the same parties, had proved unfit for use.”

In *Hanson vs. Parker-Wittenberg* (Mass.), 91 N. E. 383, it is said:

“Where there were two independent contracts between the same persons for the furnishing of certain goods of the same kind and quality, at different times, the fact that the seller has committed a breach of the first contract, by furnishing goods inferior to those required by the contract, and by failing, upon demand, to furnish goods of the kind and quality re-

quired, does not justify the buyer in assuming that the seller will also break his second contract for a further supply of like goods, and, although the buyer may be reasonably apprehensive of a like breach of the second contract, he has no right to rescind or repudiate the second contract before it has been broken by the seller.”

There was absolutely no justification for appellant’s refusal to advance the ten per cent. Respondent had complied with every condition entitling him to the payment of the money, and because of appellant’s refusal to make the payment respondent could not pay his material and labor bills and was obliged to cease work on the building. (Ab. 28, Tr. 92.)

Now we come to the next step in the proceedings. The property was covered by the mortgage, so that it was impossible for respondent to secure any other loan. (Ab. 29, Tr. 98.) Respondent demanded in writing that the mortgage be released, and this appellant refused to do, unless respondent would pay the following items of expense, which it claimed to have incurred:

Federal Housing Administration appraisal fee .....	\$ 10.00
Mortgagee appraisal fee and credit report.....	6.00
Initial service mortgagee.....	75.00
Recording fee .....	7.10
Abstracting .....	5.00
Fire Insurance .....	21.00
Total.....	\$124.10
Less credit which appellant appears to have given respondent .....	10.00
Net amount claimed.....	\$114.10

That appellant offered to release the mortgage if respondent would pay the foregoing items is set forth in paragraph 8 of appellant's counterclaim (Tr. 33), which paragraph, on plaintiff's motion, was stricken as constituting no defense (Tr. 47), and appellant assigns the ruling of the court as error. (Ass. Error No. 10.)

Counsel argues that appellant was under no obligation to execute the release until these items were paid, and especially the insurance item, which he says inured to the benefit of the property owner. Respondent was to pay these items in part consideration for the making of the loan to him, and yet appellant takes the position that, even though appellant refused to make the loan as it agreed to do, respondent ought, nevertheless, to pay the expenses. This is an unusual brand of logic which we think the court will not adopt. Why is respondent under any obligation to pay the expenses of securing the F.H.A. commitment, when, after the commitment was obtained, appellant breached its contract by refusal to pay over the money? The charge for insurance is no more valid than any other item. What use is the insurance to respondent when he has no house, and is prevented by the lien which appellant holds from securing means elsewhere with which to complete the house? To say that appellant can breach its agreement to pay over the money, and yet require respondent to pay the expense of appellant in arranging for the money, seems to us preposterous. The court committed no error in striking paragraph 8 of the counterclaim.



We now come to a consideration of the right of respondent to recover damages awarded by the judgment.

Sec. 78-3-8 Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, provides:

“If the mortgagee fails to discharge or release any mortgage after the same has been fully satisfied, he shall be liable to the mortgagor for double the damages resulting from such failure. Or the mortgagor may bring an action against the mortgagee to compel the discharge or release of the mortgage after the same has been satisfied, and the judgment of the court must be that the mortgagee discharge or release the mortgage and pay the mortgagor the costs of suit *and all damages resulting from such failure.*”

In Kelley vs. Narregang (S. D.), 162 N. W. 386, it was alleged in plaintiff's complaint that the plaintiff and his wife executed to the defendant their note for \$7000, secured by a mortgage; that defendant caused said mortgage to be recorded, but defendant refused to pay over or deliver to the plaintiff any money, whatsoever; that thereafter plaintiff demanded a release of the mortgage; that defendant refused to cause said mortgage to be satisfied of record, and that plaintiff was compelled to commence an action to have the same cancelled and was compelled to employ an attorney and incurred large expense. It was further alleged that at the trial of the case for the cancellation of the mortgage the court entered judgment that defendant execute a satisfaction of the mortgage; that in prosecuting such action plaintiff was compelled to incur expenses and attorney's fees amounting to the sum of \$350. Upon demurrer to the complaint it was held that it stated a cause of action.

It will be noted that the case just referred to was prosecuted for the recovery of the damages, after the cancellation suit had been concluded. An appeal from the judgment in favor of the plaintiff was prosecuted (170 N. W. 131), and the judgment was sustained. Says the court:

“All points raised by appellant, save one, became *res adjudicata* by the judgment of the court in a former action brought by the present respondent against the present appellant, to compel the cancellation of the mortgage. The only question before us is whether the words ‘all damages which he or they may sustain by reason of such refusal,’ as found in Sec. 2061, Civil Code, include the fees paid by respondent to his attorneys in the former action, and respondent’s personal expenses in connection with the preparation and trial of that action.”

Continuing the court says:

“By the same token it would seem that if he were liable for costs in that action, he would have been liable for the counsel fees paid by the successful party in that action, if claim had been made therefor.

In our opinion the situation is analogous to that arising in actions upon undertakings given in injunction proceedings, where it has been decided that the injunction was improvidently granted. While in that action the action is *ex contractu* and the damages measured by Sec. 2295, Civil Code, and in this action the action is *ex delicto* and the damage measured by Sec. 2312, Civil Code, yet, if counsel fees are properly allowable in the one case, they certainly are in the other. In each case the question is: Was such claimed element of damage ‘proximately caused thereby?’ ”



The court will observe that in the Kelley-Narregang case the facts are almost identical with those in the case at bar. A note and mortgage were executed and the mortgage recorded *and no money was advanced*, and yet the court held that the statute, which is very similar to our Sec. 78-3-8, applied. The South Dakota statute provided that the plaintiff might recover “*damages which he or they may sustain by reason of such refusal*,” while our statute provides that plaintiff may recover “*all damages resulting from such failure*.” The only difference between the two cases is that the Kelley-Narregang case was one to recover the damage in a separate suit after the suit to compel cancellation of the mortgage had been decided. But on the second appeal the South Dakota court used this language:

“By the same token it would seem if he were liable for the costs in that action, he would also have been liable for the counsel fees paid by the successful party in *that action if a claim has been made therefor*.”

In the case of McClure vs. Scates (Kan.), 67 Pac. 856, the statute provided that in mandamus cases:

“If judgment be given for plaintiff he shall recover damages which he shall have sustained, to be ascertained by the court or jury or by referees as in civil actions, and costs; and a peremptory writ of mandate shall also be granted to him without delay.”

The court held that “damages” included attorney’s fees, and that they were recoverable in the same action in which the writ of mandate was sought.

Appellant relies upon the early case of *Openshaw vs. Haflin*, 24 Utah 426, 68 Pac. 138 (and we might also refer the court to the similar case of *Brubaker vs. Bennett*, 19 Utah 401, 57 Pac. 170), wherein this court held that a statute which contained a special provision for the recovery of “costs of suit, *including attorney’s fees*, and all damages resulting from such failure, etc.,” was held to be unconstitutional, *insofar as it provided for the recovery of attorney’s fees*, and appellant argues that under this decision attorney’s fees cannot be recovered. This contention is untenable, because after these decisions were rendered the statute upon which we rely was amended to read:

“the judgment of the court must be that the mortgagee discharge or release the mortgage and pay the mortgagor the costs of suit and *all damages* resulting from such failure.”

Under this statute we are entitled to recover such damages. We do not ask for the recovery of attorney’s fees *as such*, which was objectionable under the old statute, but the attorney’s fee is simply an item of *damages*, just as any other item of expenses would constitute damages.

That attorney’s fees, as an element of damages, may be recovered, we have only to call the court’s attention to the case of *Colorado Development Company vs. Creer*, 96 Utah 1, 80 Pac. (2) 914, wherein this court construed Sec. 104-68-12 Revised Statutes of Utah 1933, relating to actions for a writ of mandate. This statute contains the provision:

“If judgment is given for appellant he may recover the damages which he has sustained, as found by the jury or as may be determined by the court.”

This court held that under this statute attorney's fees incurred in an action for a writ of mandate may be recovered as damages, and uses this language:

“The case of *State ex rel vs. Cocking, Mayor*, 66 Mont. 169, 213 Pac. 594, and cases there cited, are authority for the construction of the Montana Statute, which is practically identical with Revised Statutes 1933, Sec. 104-68-12, that in a mandamus proceeding the word ‘damages’ includes the expense for the services of an attorney to bring the proceeding.”

Other cases where attorney's fees are allowed as damages in mandamus cases are:

*Columbia Knickerbocker Tr. Co. vs. Finney*, (Kan.) 144 Pac. 222;

*Larabee Flour Mills Co. vs. Ry. Co.*, (Kan.) 116 Pac. 901.

There can be no good reason why if “damages,” *including attorney's fees*, is an item of expense in a mandamus proceeding, the word “damages” should not cover attorney's fees as an item of expense in a suit to cancel a mortgage. It is so held, not only in the *Kelley-Narrengang* case, *supra*, but in *Cornelius vs. United States Bldg. & Loan Ass'n (Ida.)*, 292 Pac. 243; *Vaught vs. Pettyjohn Co. (Kan.)*, 178 Pac. 623.

Counsel cites authorities (among them *Matheiu vs. Boston (S.D.)*, 216 N. W. 361), that a mortgagee is not

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